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The Stuart llouse is set in the northwest corner of a broad terraced
yard informally planted with large shade trees, evergreens and shrubbery.
The main entrance to the yard is through a handsome and very rare pair of
Chinese lattice gates, These gates, with their carved finials and intri-
cately patterned panels, have long been a familiar landmark in Staunton.
Immediately to the east of the l.ouse is a gambrel roof frame building,
erected sometime after 1783 as /rchibald Stuart's residence and law office.
A two-story wing was added to this building in the nineteenth century but
the original portion is still clearly evident. Other than this frame
building and the main house, the only other early building on the lot is a
pyramidal roof smokehouse near the northwest corner of the main house.

The main house was originally served by a one-story frame kitchen that stood
just to the east of the smokehouse. Sometime prior to 1831 this kitchen
was attached to the house by a one-story frame wing. In 1844 both the
kitchen and the frame wing were removed and replaced by a large, two-and-a-
half-story brick wing which provided space for a modern kitchen and service
areas, as well as for a dining room, library, and additional bedrooms.

This wing is fronted by a gallery ornamented with lattice-work and supported
on brick piers. The evolution of these additions can be traced im the
five Mutual Assurance Society policies, on the house, spanning the years
1796-1859.

The original portion of the Stuart House, erected in 1791, is a two-
story, temple-form brick structure fronted by a two-level pedimented portico
supported by four very simple and provincial Tuscan-like columms, The
pediment lacks both frieze and architrave but does feature a modillion
cornice that is repeated around the main body of the house. In the pedi-
ment's tympanum are two double-hung rectangular windows and a curious
painted-on circular window centered above them. This portico, although
awkward-appearing with its obvious provincialisms, is an original feature
to the house.

The body of the house, cxclusive of the portico, is a thirty-five
by Lhirty-five foot square with five bays across the front and threc on the
sides. The brick walls are laid throughout in very even Flemish bond, and
have moided water tables on the sides and a pair of exterior chimnecys on the
north end. Nearly all the original exterior fabric, such as doors, sash,
cornicing, and shutters are intact. The interesting frontispiece for the
main entrance consists of flanking fluted pilasters on pedestals and a
swan's neck pediment with rosettes and a central spiral finial above a
pulvinated frieze, This pediment motif is repeated inside over the door- |

|

ways from the hall into the sitting room and adjacent parlor, and on the
chimney pieces in these two rooms.

The plan of the first fioor of the original section consists of a
thiall across the entire front wirh the sitting room and parlor occupying the
remainder of the area. An enclosed stair ascends from a door near the west
end of the hall between the hall and the sitting room. The very elaborate
but somewhat provincial Federal-style woodwork in the first floor rooms is

one of the house's most notable features. That in the parlor is the most of-

nate; it includes a chimney piece with a framed overmantel topped by a swan's
neck pediment, and flanked by curved vines and scrolled volutes. Framing

thls composition are fluted Corinthian pilasters on pedestals. The

iece in the sitting room is similar _altheugh—itis—ilanked—by—!
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STATEMENT OF SIGNIFICANCE

Staunton's venerable Stuart House is an architecturally intriguing
homestead for one of the area's most prominent families. The house was
built in 1791 by Archibald Stuart on land annexed by the town just four
yvears earlier. According fto family tradition, Stuart received plans or
suggestions for the house's design from his close friend, Thomas Jefferson|
However, since no drawings of the house by Jefferson have been discovered,
and since many of the building's architectural details contain provincialigms
ordinarily avoided by the scholarly Jefferson, it is doubtful that he had
any but the most indirect hand in the design. Nevertheless, with its
temple form and somewhat naive two-story portice, the house stands as one
of Virginia's earliest expressions of the Classical Revival, an architec-
tural mode fostered in this country by Jefferson himself. Indeed, the
Stuart House portico may be the oldest such portico on a Virginia house.
In addition to its interesting exterior, the Stuart House is notable for
its elaborate Georgian-style interior woodwork. Like tne exterior, this
woodwork is somewhat provincial in design, but its very ambitiousness
makes it a testament to the imagination of the craftsmen who executed it.

Prior to the buiiding of his house, Archibald Stuart fought in
the Revolution, and in 1782 he studied law with Thomas Jefferson at
! Monticello. Upon the completion of his study in 1783, Stuart moved to
Staunton and purchased the land for his future home. In 1791 Archibald
Stuart married Eleanor Briscoe of Frederick County and it was in this same
yvear that he began construc:iion of his house on what is now Church Street.
Before the house was built, Stuart lived and practiced law in the small
gambrel roof frame cottage on the same property. Archibald Stuart was a
man of many achievements. As a student at William and Mary, he was
elected vice-president of the newly established society of Phi Beta Kappa.
He alse was a member of the Virginia Convention of 1788, four times a pre-
sidential elector, a judge of the general court, and one of the Virginia
commissioners appointed to establish the dividing line between Virginia
and Kentucky.

Archibald Stuart died in 1832 and the house was inherited by his
son, Alexander Hugh Holmes Stuart. Born in the house in 1807, Alexander
H, I, Stuart returned to Staunton in 1828 after completing his law course
at the University of Virginia. Like his father, he set up his residemnce
and law practice in the gambrel roof "office' next to the main house.

The year after his father's death, Alexander H. H. Stuart married Frances
Cornelia Baldwin. In 1836 Alexander Stuart was elected to the Virginia
House of Delegates and was re-elected until 1839. From 1841 to 1843

Stuart served as a member of the Twenty-seventh Congress, and in 1850 he
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Ionic pilasters that are set on the mantel shelf rather than on pedestals.
Other trim in the first floor rooms includes molded keystones set in the tops
of the window frames, flat panel wainscoting, and cornicing decorated with
either Wall-of-Troy molding in the parlor and sitting room or dentils in the
hall, The woodwork in the second floor rooms is all intact but is less
elaborate than that on the first. According to family tradition a small
bedroom in the southeast corner of the second floor is the room occupied by
Thomas Jefferson during his visits. The rooms in the original part of the
house as well as those in the wings retain numerous pieces of Stuart family
furniture as well as portraits. A number of these items have been in the
house since it was first occupied.
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was appointed Secretary of the Interior by Millard Fillmore. Although a loyal
Virginian, Stuart strongly oppesed the Southern secession from the Union, but
was active in the Southern rehabilitation movement following the war's end.
Towards this later aim, Alexander Stuart served as a member of the board of
trustees of the southern educational fund established by George Peabody of
Massachusetts. in line with his dedication to his state, Alexander H. H.
Stuart held the rectorship of the University of Virginia from 1876 to 1886 and
he was President of the Virginia Historical Society for a number of years.
When Alexander H. H. Stuart died in 1891, the title of the

house was taken over by his granddaughter Margaret, who was married to Alexanderx

F. Robertson. Their son-in-law, Peyton Cochran agreed to inherit.tha house
when Mr. and Mrs. Robertson died, and in order to keep the house in the name of
the Stuart family, the title was written in the name of his wife Susan.
Ironically the title revealed that the Stuart House land had been originally
owned by Peyton Cochran's great-grandfather, Alexander St. Clair who had sold
the property to Archibald Stuart in 1791.
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U.5.G.3, 74' quadrangle (scale 1:24000)
Staunton, Va. 1964

Stuart House

latitude longitude
38008 150" 79004 133"
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